SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY

Docket No. 089378

NEW JERSEY COALITION OF AUTOMOTIVE RETAILERS, INC., a non-profit New Jersey Corporation Plaintiff-Respondent,	 A Petition for Certification from the April 4, 2024 Judgment of the SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY, APPELLATE DIVISION Docket No. A-001051-22
v.	: : CIVIL ACTION
FORD MOTOR COMPANY d/b/a LINCOLN MOTOR COMPANY,	:
Defendant-Petitioner.	· : :

PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION AND APPENDIX BY DEFENDANT/PETITIONER FORD MOTOR COMPANY d/b/a LINCOLN MOTOR COMPANY

Of Counsel and on the Petition:	Duane Morris LLP 30 South 17 th Street Philadelphia, PA 19103 (215) 979-1000 ARSperl@duanemorris.com

STATEMENT OF THE MATTER INVOLVED

I. Statutory Framework

NJCAR alleges that Ford violated the NJFPA, a statute that was enacted

to "regulat[e] the responsibilities of both the franchisee and the franchisor."

Coast Auto. Grp., Ltd. v. VW Credit, Inc., 119 F. App'x 419, 423 (3d Cir.

2005) (citing Westfield Ctr. Serv. Inc. v. Cities Service Oil Co., 86 N.J. 453,

463-64 (1981)). As part of that goal, the NJFPA states that:

It shall be a violation of [the NJFPA] for any motor vehicle franchisor, directly or indirectly, through any officer, agent, or employee . . . [t]o fail or refuse to sell or offer to sell to all motor vehicle franchisees in a line make every motor vehicle sold or offered for sale to any motor vehicle franchisee of the same line make, or to fail or refuse to sell or offer to sell such motor vehicles to all motor vehicle franchisees at the same price for a comparably equipped motor vehicle, on the same terms, with no differential in discount, allowance, credit or bonus, and on reasonable, good faith and nondiscriminatory allocation and availability terms.

N.J.S.A. 56:10-7.4(h).

The NJFPA sets forth a specific procedure for franchisees to assert violations of any of the statute's provisions. In particular, the NJFPA provides that "[a]ny franchisee may bring an action against its franchisor for violation of this act in the Superior Court of the State of New Jersey to recover damages sustained by reason of any violation of this act and, where appropriate, shall be entitled to injunctive relief." N.J.S.A. 56:10-10. The NJFPA also allows a successful franchisee to recover costs and attorney's fees.

The NJFPA further states that "[i]t shall be a defense for a franchisor, to any action brought under this act by a franchisee, if it be shown that said franchisee has failed to substantially comply with requirements imposed by the franchise and other agreements ancillary or collateral thereto." N.J.S.A. 56:10-9. This section has been interpreted to provide "a complete defense to a franchisor in 'any action' brought under the NJFPA where the franchisee has itself committed a material breach of the franchise agreement." *Coast Auto. Grp.*, 119 F. App'x at 423.

II. NJCAR and the Lincoln Commitment Program

NJCAR is a trade organization for automotive dealerships in New Jersey. (Pa32.)¹ It is not a dealership or franchisee of any automobile manufacturer, and it does not have any contracts to sell vehicles. (Pa181, Pa206.) Some of NJCAR's members are Lincoln dealerships. (Pa32.) On behalf of these dealerships, NJCAR asserts that a program offered by Ford's

¹ Citations are to the appendix and the opening brief filed by NJCAR in the Appellate Division.

Lincoln brand, called the Lincoln Commitment Program, violates

N.J.S.A. 56:10-7.4(h).

The Lincoln Commitment Program is an optional, yearly program under which dealers may voluntarily agree to provide better service and experiences to customers through amenities such as car washes, loaner vehicles, and newer facilities. (Pa186-187, Pa189-191.) Lincoln dealers may choose to participate in none, some, or all of the Program's elements based on their individual determinations of what would be best for their businesses. (Pa191.) The Program's amenities are designed to increase sales for Lincoln and its dealer network. (Pa190.)

Because providing the Program amenities necessarily results in costs for dealers, the Lincoln Commitment Program helps the dealers offset those costs. (Pa190.) Ford offers dealers the opportunity to earn funds to offset these costs because it recognizes that these amenities are designed to benefit the Lincoln brand. (Pa190.) NJCAR alleges that these offset payments violate the NJFPA. Although NJCAR is suing Ford to prevent Ford from running the Lincoln Commitment Program, every Lincoln dealer in New Jersey admittedly wants to continue to have the opportunity to earn offsets through the Program. (Pa128.)

NJCAR admitted it did not have any actual evidence (as opposed to mere allegations) that any of its Lincoln-affiliated dealers are suffering any real or

threatened injuries from Ford's operation of the Lincoln Commitment Program. (Pa182.) In particular, NJCAR has no evidence about the financial impact, if any, that the Lincoln Commitment Program has had on any of its members. (Pa182.) NJCAR also does not have evidence comparing the financial performance of members who chose to participate in the Lincoln Commitment Program with those who did not. (Pa182.)

III. Procedural History

NJCAR filed its original complaint against Ford on January 31, 2020, and an amended complaint against Ford on August 7, 2020, alleging that Ford violated N.J.S.A. 56:10-7.4(h). (Pa1-14, Pa31-38.) Following discovery, NJCAR and Ford each moved for summary judgment. (Pa71-72, Pa178.) On October 21, 2022, the trial court held argument, granted Ford's motion for summary judgment, and denied NJCAR's motion for summary judgment. (T34:3-37:2.) The trial court entered separate orders reflecting those oral rulings the same day. (Pa296-298.)

NJCAR appealed, arguing that the trial court erred in holding that it lacked standing to assert its claims against Ford. NJCAR also asked the Appellate Division to address the merits of its claims against Ford in the first instance. On April 4, 2024, following oral argument, the Appellate Division held that NJCAR had associational standing to pursue its claims against Ford.

The Appellate Division therefore reversed the judgment of the trial court and remanded for a consideration of NJCAR's claims on the merits.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Appellate Division err in holding that NJCAR has standing to bring claims under the NJFPA against Ford because the NJFPA's text and structure make clear that only individual franchisees can bring such claims?

2. Did the Appellate Division err in holding that NJCAR had associational standing where NJCAR admitted it lacked any evidence to carry its burden on summary judgment to demonstrate the impact of Ford's Lincoln Commitment Program on its members and therefore could not show that any of its members were actually injured?

ERRORS COMPLAINED OF

1. The Appellate Division erroneously held that New Jersey's standing doctrine allowed NJCAR to bring claims against Ford on behalf of its members. The express language of the NJFPA allows only franchisees to sue. The statute confirms this conclusion by providing franchisors with a defense to liability that makes sense only if the NJFPA limits plaintiffs to franchisees, not an association standing in their place. In reaching the contrary conclusion, the Appellate Division ignored its prior decisions in *Tynan v. General Motors Corp.*, 248 N.J. Super. 654 (App. Div. 1991), and *Horn v. Mazda Motor of*

America, 265 N.J. Super. 47 (App. Div. 1993). In both of those decisions, the court held that the NJFPA permits only franchisees to pursue statutory claims against their franchisors. The Appellate Division's decision also creates a split in authority with a federal decision applying New Jersey law, which held that NJCAR did *not* have standing to pursue the same statutory claims it asserts against Ford. *See N.J. Coal. of Auto. Retailers, Inc. v. Mazda*, Civ. A. No. 18-14563, 2023 WL 2263741 (D.N.J. Feb. 28, 2023).

2. The Appellate Division incorrectly held that NJCAR had sufficiently established that its members were harmed by Ford's Lincoln Commitment Program, such that NJCAR had standing on behalf of its members, even though NJCAR admitted that it had no information about the impact of the Lincoln Commitment Program on its members. Thus, even apart from the question of statutory standing, NJCAR fails to meet the test for associational standing.

COMMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE APPELLATE DIVISION OPINION

I. The Appellate Division Ignored the NJFPA's Language and Structure in Holding that NJCAR Has Statutory Standing.

A. The plain language of the NJFPA limits proper plaintiffs to franchisees, not trade associations suing on their behalf.

The Legislature carefully delineated the parties to actions under the NJFPA. The statute allows only a "franchisee [to] bring an action against its

franchisor." N.J.S.A. 56:10-10. A "franchisee" is "a person to whom a franchise is offered or granted," and a "franchisor" is "a person who grants a franchise to another person." N.J.S.A. 56:10-3(c) & (d). The statute permits no one other than a "franchisee" to pursue a claim under the NJFPA.

Contrary to this unambiguous statutory language, the Appellate Division held in this case that a trade association *also* can bring an action under the NJFPA. (Aa5.) The Appellate Division reached that conclusion because, in its view, the NJFPA does not "explicitly preclude associational standing." (Aa12.)

The Appellate Division's statutory interpretation was incorrect. Courts must presume that the Legislature means what it says in its statutes. "[T]he best indicator of the Legislature's intent is the statutory language," and "[i]f the plain language leads to a clear and unambiguous result, then [the court's] interpretive process is over." *Matter of Ridgefield Park Bd. of Educ.*, 244 N.J. 1, 18 (2020) (cleaned up). In the NJFPA, the Legislature explicitly and unambiguously limited plaintiffs under the NJFPA to franchisees. The Appellate Division failed to give effect to that express legislative choice, expanding a statutory cause of action beyond what the Legislature provided.

The Legislature could have chosen to create a more expansive cause of action under the NJFPA. For example, the Legislature could have permitted any "injured person," "person claiming to be aggrieved," or "interested party"

to bring an NJFPA claim, as it does in other statutes. See N.J.S.A. 56:4-2; N.J.S.A. 10:5-13; N.J.S.A. 40:55D-17(a). Or the Legislature could have drafted the NJFPA to permit any "person" to bring a claim, as the Delaware and Pennsylvania legislatures did in their states' franchise acts, see 6 Del. Code § 4916(a); 63 P.S. § 818.329, or expressly allowed an association to bring claims, as the Georgia legislature has done in its franchise act, see Ga. Code § 10-1-623(e). But the Legislature made a different choice, unambiguously limiting NJFPA actions to "franchisee[s]" against their "franchisor[s]." N.J.S.A. 56:10-10; see also Florida Auto. Dealers Ass'n, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., Case No. 23-cv-282, 2024 WL 836384 (N.D. Fla. Jan. 25, 2024) (holding that the association could not pursue claims against Ford under the Florida Motor Vehicle Dealer Act because "it is not a 'motor vehicle dealer' within the meaning of [the Act]"); Mass. State Auto. Dealers Ass'n, Inc. v. Tesla Motors MA, Inc., 15 N.E.3d 1152, 1162 (Mass. 2014) (holding that the Massachusetts franchise protection statute "does not confer standing" on a motor vehicle dealer to maintain an action for violation [of the statute] against a manufacturer with which the dealer is not affiliated"); *Statewide Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Subaru of Am.*, 704 F. Supp. 183, 185 (D. Mont. 1988) (holding that prospective franchisee lacks standing under Montana statute).

The Appellate Division substituted its own judgment about the scope of NJFPA claims for the Legislature's clear statutory choice.

The Appellate Division also ignored its own earlier decisions, which has strictly construed the NJFPA's provisions and held that entities other than franchisees may *not* bring challenges under the statute. For example, in *Tynan*, the Appellate Division held that a prospective transferee of a franchise lacked standing to sue the franchisor for withholding consent to the transfer. 248 N.J. Super. at 666. Despite recognizing that the proposed transferee had good reasons for asserting his claims, the court held that those policy reasons could not overcome the Legislature's express limitation of allowing suits only by franchisees. Id. at 666-68. The same was true in Horn, where the Appellate Division held that a franchisee of one franchisor lacked standing to sue a different franchisor, with whom the franchisee did not have a contractual relationship. 265 N.J. Super. at 61. As the Court put it, "plaintiffs who are not franchisees do not have standing to invoke the protection of the New Jersey Franchise Practices Act." Id. In this case, the Appellate Division did not even cite, let alone attempt to distinguish, either Tynan or Horn.

The Appellate Division also did not address the recent federal court opinion in *Mazda*, where the district court held that "NJCAR lacks statutory standing for its claims against Mazda under the NJFPA because it is not a

franchisee within the meaning of that statute." 2023 WL 2263741, at *6. The Appellate Division simply ignored that decision, even though it involved the same plaintiff, the same claims for alleged violations of N.J.S.A. 56:10-7.4(h), and the same question of statutory standing under the NJFPA. Instead, the Appellate Division cited a footnote in *N.J. Coalition of Automotive Retailers v. DaimlerChrysler Motors Corp.*, 107 F. Supp. 2d 495, 501 n.5 (D.N.J. 1999), a decision that dealt with the test for associational standing but did not address the question of statutory standing under the NJFPA at all. (Aa12-13.)

Prior to the Appellate Division's decision in this case, every court to consider the issue had held the plain text of the NJFPA permitted only franchisees, not other interested parties, to bring claims for violations of the statute. The Appellate Division's radical departure from that line of convincing authority and from the express language of the statute should be reversed.

B. The statutory defense provided by the NJFPA shows that franchisees are the only proper plaintiffs under the statute.

The Appellate Division's decision not only conflicts with the Legislature's choice to allow only a "franchisee [to] bring an action against its franchisor," N.J.S.A. 56:10-10, it is also incompatible with the statutory defense that the Legislature created under the NJFPA. In N.J.S.A. 56:10-9, the Legislature provided franchisors with a complete defense to liability if a plaintiff-franchisee is in material breach of the franchise agreement. *Coast*

Auto. Grp., 119 F. App'x at 423.² This provision reflects the Legislature's intent to regulate both franchisors *and* franchisees under the NJFPA, *id.*, and to "protect *innocent* franchisees, not those who are in material breach of their franchise agreements," *Mall Chevrolet, Inc. v. General Motors LLC*, Civ. A. No. 18-15077, 2021 WL 2581665, at *4 (D.N.J. June 23, 2021) (cleaned up); *see also Dunkin' Donuts of Am., Inc. v. Middletown Donut Corp.*, 100 N.J. 166, 177 (N.J. 1985).

The statutory defense provided by N.J.S.A. 56:10-9 underscores that the Legislature meant what it said when it permitted only a "franchisee [to] bring an action against its franchisor" under the NJFPA. N.J.S.A. 56:10-10. A franchisor can only make use of the defense if a *franchisee* is asserting the alleged NJFPA violation. In this case, for example, Ford could not show that NJCAR had "failed to substantially comply with requirements imposed by the franchise" agreement, because NJCAR *has* no such agreement with Ford. By permitting NJCAR to assert an NJFPA claim, and denying Ford the statutory defense under N.J.S.A. 56:10-9, the Appellate Division violated the principle that "each part or section" of a statute "should be construed in connection with

² N.J.S.A. 56:10-9 provides that "[i]t shall be a defense for a franchisor, to any action brought under this act by a franchisee, if it be shown that said franchisee has failed to substantially comply with requirements imposed by the franchise and other agreements ancillary or collateral thereto."

every other part or section to provide a harmonious whole." *Burnet v. County* of Bergen, 198 N.J. 408, 421 (N.J. 2009).

The Appellate Division rejected this argument because Ford failed to show that "any Lincoln dealerships that are members of NJCAR, much less all of them, materially breached their agreements." (Aa14.) This reasoning missed the point of Ford's argument. Ford does not contend that it is entitled to judgment on NJCAR's claims because of material breaches by dealers. Instead, Ford pointed to the statutory defense to show why, as a matter of statutory construction, only franchisees are proper plaintiffs under the NJFPA. Neither the Appellate Division nor NJCAR have addressed this argument.

The Appellate Division was also wrong to point to the lack of evidence that Ford's dealers breached their franchises. (Aa14.) NJCAR brought this lawsuit to *avoid* involving franchisees in litigating against Ford. (Pb17.) In fact, NJCAR steadfastly refused to identify any dealer that the Lincoln Commitment Program allegedly harmed, citing a First Amendment privilege against disclosing the information in litigation. (Pa131a-32a, Pa139a-40a.)

According to the Appellate Division, Ford should nevertheless have identified and then litigated against the absent franchisees that NJCAR shielded, taking discovery about their views on the Lincoln Commitment Program and their compliance with their franchise agreements. That burden

goes far beyond what the NJFPA requires. Under N.J.S.A. 56:10-9, the defense is available only in an "action brought ... by a franchisee." There is no textual basis to require Ford or any other franchisor to litigate against absent franchisees that are not parties to the NJFPA action. That is why NJCAR has itself maintained that "participation of [NJCAR's] individual members in the instant matter is unnecessary" and "irrelevant" to this case. (Pb22, Pa125-126.)

In N.J.S.A. 56:10-10, the Legislature expressly provided that only franchisees may bring NJFPA actions. In N.J.S.A. 56:10-9, the Legislature created a complete statutory defense to an NJFPA violation that functionally requires a franchisee to be the plaintiff. Taken together, the Legislature's intent to limit statutory standing to franchisees is clear and unambiguous.

C. New Jersey's liberal approach to standing does not negate the Legislature's choice of proper plaintiffs to an NJFPA action.

The Appellate Division based its conclusion that NJCAR has standing to sue Ford on New Jersey's relatively liberal approach to standing. (Aa12.) But that approach does not give courts the power to ignore the Legislature's express limits on the availability of statutory remedies. Instead, courts have regularly adhered to the Legislature's express words, even when policy considerations would counsel otherwise.

That was precisely the situation in *Tynan*. There, a prospective transferee of a car dealership franchise argued that, even if it did not qualify as a

franchisee for purposes of the NJFPA, it still had standing as a third-party beneficiary. 248 N.J. Super. at 666. The prospective transferee made a number of policy arguments, including that "a franchisor could, contrary to the Legislature's intent, arbitrarily reject transferees." *Id.* The prospective transferee argued that "a franchisor could wrongfully withhold consent to transfer if the contract purchaser had no standing to sue and the existing franchisee lacked the resources or willpower to challenge the rejection." *Id.* at 666-67. Although the Appellate Division recognized the validity of these policy concerns, it nevertheless held that the express statutory language controlled and precluded a non-franchisee from bringing an NJFPA action. *Id.*

The NJFPA's limitation on proper plaintiffs is not unique. In other circumstances, courts in New Jersey have enforced the Legislature's limits on who may pursue statutory remedies. For example, in *Triffin v. Bridge View Bank*, 330 N.J. Super. 473 (App. Div. 2000), the Appellate Division considered whether the Uniform Commercial Code gave the assignee of a dishonored check standing against the payor bank to enforce the bank's statutory liability for missing the deadline to return or dishonor the check. The court recognized that the statute was created to benefit "those entities in the check collection and payment process who are entitled to rely on the payor bank's adherence to the midnight deadline requirement." *Id.* at 477 (adopting analysis from *Am*.

Title Ins. Co. v. Burke & Herbert Bank & Trust Co., 813 F. Supp. 423, 428 (E.D. Va. 1993)). But the court concluded that "standing to sue for [a statutory] violation is limited to those entities who, by virtue of their relation to the check transaction, either did suffer, or might have suffered, a loss" that the statute was meant to prevent against. *Id.* The court concluded that "[1]imiting standing in this manner does not, in any way, diminish the deterrent sting of [the statute]'s strict liability rule, for it simply entrusts enforcement of this rule to those with the greatest incentive to enforce compliance." *Id.* at 478.

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