# SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY DOCKET NO. 89378

NEW JERSEY COALITION OF : AUTOMOTIVE RETAILERS, :

INC., a non-profit New Jersey Corporation

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Plaintill-Respondent,

V.

FORD MOTOR COMPANY d/b/a

LINCOLN MOTOR COMPANY,

Defendant-Petitioner.

A Brief in Opposition to Petition for Certification from the April 4, 2024

Judgment of the SUPERIOR

COURT OF NEW JERSEY, APPELLATE DIVISION Docket

No. A-001051-22

CIVIL ACTION

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR CERTIFICATION

#### GENOVA BURNS LLC

494 Broad Street, 6<sup>th</sup> Floor Newark, New Jersey 07102 (973) 533-0777

#### BASS SOX MERCER

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

#### **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

I. Associational Standing Allows Trade Associations to Step into the Shoes of its Members and Sue on their Behalf.

Associational standing has been widely recognized by the New Jersey courts and permits associations, such as NJCAR, to have standing to litigate on behalf of its members on issues directly pertaining to the same. e.g. Right to Choose v. Byrne, 91 N.J. 287, 313-15, 450 A.2d 925 (1982); N.J. Chamb. Commerce v. N.J. Elec. Law Enforce. Comm'n, 82 N.J. 57, 67-69, 411 A.2d 168 (1980); Am. Trial Lawyers v. N.J. Supreme Ct., 66 N.J. 258, 260, 330 A.2d 350 (1974). "The doctrine of associational standing recognizes...people join an organization... to create an effective vehicle for vindicating interests that they share with others." Int'l Union, United Auto., Aerospace & Agr. Implement Workers of Am. V. Brock, 477 U.S. 274, \*275-76 (1986). If Ford's argument were accepted, associational standing would be rendered moot because the association (and not the member) would have to possess an affirmative right under the statute to file suit—contrary to binding precedent. See Indiana Prot. & Advocacy Servs. Comm'n v. Indiana Family & Soc. Servs. Admin., 2022 WL 4468327, at \*5 (S.D. Ind. Sept. 26, 2022)("the *Hunt* test [is] only [to] be called into play for associations that [themselves] lack statutory standing").

a. The plain language of the NJFPA applies to NJCAR's members and associational standing permits NJCAR to sue on their behalf.

Statutory standing seeks to determine whether the plaintiff "has a cause of action under the statute." *Lexmark Intern., Inc. v. Static Control Components, Inc.*, 572 U.S. 118, \*128, n.4 (2014)(inquiry ensures the plaintiff falls within the class of authorized plaintiffs). However, the entitlement to invoke the court's jurisdiction is not limited to *only* plaintiffs who suffered the injury themselves. In *Hunt*, the Supreme Court explained when an association, who otherwise was not harmed, may bring suit on behalf of its members:

Even in the absence of injury to itself... The association must allege that its members, or any one of them, are suffering immediate or threatened injury as a result of the challenged action of the sort that would make out a justiciable case had the members themselves brought suit.... So long as this can be established, and so long as the nature of the claim and of the relief sought does not make the individual participation of each injured party indispensable to proper resolution of the cause, the association may be an appropriate representative of its members, entitled to invoke the court's jurisdiction.

Hunt v. Washington State Apple Advert. Com'n, 432 U.S. 333, \*342 (1977)(emphasis added).

Thereby, despite the fact that NJCAR does not assert an injury to itself—NJCAR is entitled to step into the shoes of its members who otherwise have statutory standing. *Id.; LDM, Inc. v. Princeton Reg'l Health Comm'n,* 336 N.J. Super. 277, 289 (Law. Div. 2000). N.J.S.A. 56:10-10 provides a cause of action to "any franchisee" so injured by a franchisors violation of the NJFPA. NJCAR's members are individual franchisees as defined within the statute. *See* N.J.S.A. 56:10-3. Such express designation undoubtedly constitutes as statutory standing

for NJCAR's dealer members who are subjected to the enforcement of the LCP, which violates N.J.S.A. 56:10-7.4(h). (Pa34 at ¶¶ 12-13) and (Pa36 at ¶ 22).<sup>2</sup>

Thus, Ford's assertion that NJCAR fails to meet statutory standing because it is not a 'franchisee' under the statute is irrelevant, as the Appellate Division did not order that NJCAR was a franchisee. *See* (Aa4) and (Pa31). More importantly, that is not the question asked by the binding precedent on associational standing. Rather, the Appellate Division correctly recognized that the individuals who are required to have statutory standing are the *members*.

# b. Ford's argument relies on case law inconsistent with binding Third Circuit precedent.

#### i. Tynan and Horn are inapplicable.

The Appellate Division did not fail to address *Tynan* and *Horn*, as these respective holdings are irrelevant. In explaining who constitutes as a "franchisee" under the NJFPA, the court in *Tynan* and *Horn* rejected to extend the meaning to *proposed purchasers*. *Tynan v. General Motors Corp.* 248 N.J. Super. 654, \*666 (App. Div. 1991), and *Horn v. Mazda Motor of Am.*, 265 N.J. Super. 47, \*61 (App. Div. 1993). The reason for such rejection is simple—motor vehicle franchise protection acts are enacted "in recognition of the [] oppressive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The *Hunt* test has been adopted by the New Jersey courts. *See N. Haledon Fire Co. No. 1 v. Borough of N. Haledon, 425 N.J. Super.* 615, 42 A.3d 901, \*908 (App. Div. 2012)(citations omitted).

power of automobile manufacturers...in relation to their affiliated dealers." Tynan, 248 N.J. Super. 654, \*664 (App. Div. 1991). Proposed purchasers are not "dealers" and are not subject to the same type different bargaining power between manufacturers and their affiliated dealers. Whereas, NJCAR's members are presently existing Ford-Lincoln motor vehicle dealerships with franchise agreements. See (PA32 at ¶ 6). It is these sorts of relationships that the NJFPA was designed to protect. See N.J.S.A. 56:10-2; Tynan, 248 N.J. Super. 654, \*664 (App. Div. 1991). NJCAR's members are subjected to the LCP by virtue of their franchise agreements—which the prospective purchasers in Tynan and Horn did not have. Therefore, it cannot be said that the members of NJCAR are in the same position as prospective purchasers such that the same restrictive holding applies to NJCAR's representation. Perhaps more importantly, neither Tynan or Horn mentioned associational standing. Those cases were not brought by an association whose members are dealers. The insufficiency in the respective plaintiff's claims was due to the fact that neither plaintiff was in a current franchise relationship with the manufacturers they sought relief from. Tynan, 248 N.J. Super. 654 (App. Div. 1991) and *Horn*, 265 N.J. Super. 47 (App. Div. 1993). While it is true that the court limited who is a franchisee, it did not touch the question of associational standing much less hold that a trade association

was prohibited from bringing forth a lawsuit on behalf of "franchisees."

Therefore, Ford is not permitted to rely on such principles.

# ii. Mazda III is similarly inapplicable to the present proceeding.

Ford's reliance on *N.J. Coal. of Auto Retailers, Inc. v. Mazda*, Civ. A. No. 18-14563, 2023 WL 2263741 (D.N.J. Feb. 28, 2023)("*Mazda III*") is similarly unavailing. *Mazda III* is not only poorly reasoned, but directly conflicts with binding precedent. In *Mazda III*, the court cited *N.J. State AFL-CIO v. State of N.J.*, 747 F.2d 891, \*892-893 (3d Cir. 1984) for the proposition that an association could not bring an ERISA suit because it was not a participant or beneficiary as required by the applicable statute and as a result, associational standing did not exist. *See Mazda III* at \*6. However, such holding is a misreading of *N.J. AFL-CIO*, as *N.J. AFL-CIO* did not address associational standing at all. *N.J. AFL-CIO*, 747 F.2d 891 (3d Cir. 1984)(holding that the complaint *lacked subject matter jurisdiction*). In fact, a more recent Third Circuit case holds otherwise.

In *Pa. Psychiatric Soc. v. Green Spring Health Services, Inc.*, 28 F.3d 278, \*283-87 (3d Cir. 2002), the Third Circuit held that associational standing can exist even though the plaintiff association itself was not a "participant or beneficiary" within the statute. The Third Circuit did not deem it necessary to

mention N.J. AFL-CIO nor did it express that associations must be expressly referenced within a statute to have associational standing. *Id.* Therefore, *Mazda* III is an outlier rather binding precedent. See also S. Ill. Carpenters Welfare Fund v. Carpenters Welfare Fund of Ill., 326 F.3d 919 (7th Cir. 2003); Self-Ins. Inst. of Am., Inc. v. Korioth, 993 F.2d 479, \*484 (5th Cir. 1993); and Borrero v. United Healthcare of New York, Inc., 610 F.3d 1296 (11th Cir. 2010). Moreover, New Jersey takes a liberal and broad approach to standing and reinforces the notion that express statutory standing conferred onto an association is not required to invoke associational standing. See In re Team Acad. Charter Sch., 459 N.J. Super. 111, 208 A.3d 10, \*126-127 (App. Div. 2019), aff'd as modified sub nom. In re Renewal Application of TEAM Acad. Charter Sch., 247 N.J. 46, 252 A.3d 1008 (2021)("that the statute does not explicitly allow for organizations...to appeal the Commissioner's decisions is inconsequential"); Crescent Park Tenants Ass'n v. Realty Equities Corp. of N.Y., 58 N.J. 98, \*111-112 (1971); N. Haledon Fire Co. No. 1, 425 N.J. Super. 615, \*627-28 (App. Div. 2012; N.J. Citizen Action v. Riviera Motel Corp., 296 N.J. Super. 402 (App. Div. 1997); and LDM, Inc., v. Princeton Reg'l Health Comm'n, 336 N.J. Super. 277, \*289 (Law. Div. 2000). Therefore, Ford's argument must be rejected.

c. The statutory defense provided to manufacturers in the NJFPA does not prevent NJCAR from utilizing associational standing.

Ford may not be permitted to raise an argument based on a statutory defense that it has otherwise waived. Ford argues that because manufacturers have a defense, based on material breach of the franchise agreement, then the New Jersey Legislature meant to limit "franchisee" only to dealers. However, this defense was not raised within Ford's Amended Answer and thus was effectively waived. (Pa48-49); Bailey v. Wyeth, Inc., 422 N.J. Super. 343 (Law. Div. 2008)("An affirmative defense is waived if not pleaded or otherwise timely raised"). Again, NJCAR is seeking a declaratory judgment, on behalf of, its individual dealer members who each are subject to a Lincoln-Ford dealer agreement. See generally (Pa31). The present lawsuit is a facial challenge to the policy, which does not activate the specific defense Ford claims it is deprived of. Rather, the Court looks at the LCP terms / guidelines and those terms / guidelines alone, to determine whether there was a violation of the NJFPA. Moreover, Ford failed to identify any Lincoln member-dealers in breach in the first place. (Aa4). In the event, NJCAR receives a favorable judgment and the LCP is declared unlawful **then** an individual dealer asserts a claim for damages to recover based on the LCP payments—Ford would be free to utilize the statutory defense regarding material breaches to limit its own liability so long as it endeavored to provide evidence of material breach. Otherwise, Ford cannot invoke a defense of liability that is otherwise inapplicable to the present dispute.

Based on the applicable precedent, associational standing does not require an association have express statutory standing itself to bring an action on behalf of its members. So long as the association satisfies the prongs in *Hunt*, an association is permitted to bring suit.

#### II. NJCAR has Standing to Bring this Suit.

New Jersey applies a three-pronged test to determine whether an organization may step into the shoes of its members through associational standing: "[i] its members would have standing to sue [in their own right]; [ii] the interests it seeks to maintain are germane to the purposes of the organization; and [iii] neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires individual participation by the association's members." *N. Haledon Fire Co. No. 1 v. Borough of N. Haledon*, 42 A.3d 901, \*908 (App. Div. 2012) Ford's challenges to the first and third prong lack merit and should be rejected.

# a. NJCAR's members have standing for an NJFPA claim.

NJCAR has the ability to assert claims on behalf of its members because the record shows that its' members would have standing to bring the claims themselves. To satisfy the first prong of the associational standing test the association must allege that any one of its members "suffer[s] immediate or threatened injury as a result of the challenged action...that would make out a justiciable case had the members themselves brought suit." *LDM*, *Inc.*, 336 N.J.

Super. 277, \*289 (Law. Div. 2000). Therefore, Ford's "statutory standing" argument is turned on its head, as the first prong of the associational standing accounts for whether NJCAR's members would have standing to bring the claim.

NJCAR's members have express statutory standing under the NJFPA to bring a claim for declaratory and injunctive relief. N.J.S.A 56:10-10 provides that any "franchisee" may bring an action against a franchisor for violation of the NJFPA and seek injunctive relief. Ford does not dispute, nor could it, that the individual NJCAR members are franchisees within the statute. (Pa32 at ¶ 6). Therefore, the individual members of NJCAR have satisfied the first element of the associational standing test on that basis alone. Despite the clear-cut statutory standing of NJCAR's members, Ford attempts to minimize this fact by improperly asserting within its Petition for Certification that NJCAR has not alleged an injury sufficient to create a live controversy. However, such assertion is incorrect—NJCAR is able to not only show damages on behalf of its members, but for actions for declaratory judgments, such proof is not required. What NJCAR must show is the existence of a "justiciable controversy." *Indep. Realty* Co. v. Twp. Of N. Bergen, 376 N.J.Super. 295, \*302-03 (App. Div. 2005); New Jersey Home Builders Ass'n v. Div. on Civil Rights in Dep't of Ed. Of State, 81 N.J. Super. 243, \*250 (Ch. Div. 1963). Several courts have recognized that claims alleging a violation of law which affects a party's rights or contractual

relationships will represent a legitimate case or controversy. E.g., Hammond v. Doan, 127 N.J.Super. 67, 71-72, 316 A.2d 68, 71-72 (Law. Div.1974); O'Shea v. New Jersey Schools Const. Corp., 388 N.J.Super. 312, 317, (App. Div. 2006). Moreover, policies or programs that on their face violate applicable statutes, provides grounds for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief. See VW Credit, Inc. v. Coast Auto. Grp., Ltd., 346 N.J. Super. 326, 346 (App. Div. 2002). Here, the implementation of the LCP its apparent violation of the NJFPA, evident on the face of the program materials and guidelines, presents such a controversy. See (PA74-74 at ¶¶ 4-8). The LCP, by virtue of providing different price differentials to its dealers, affects the NJCAR member's contractual relationships and rights under the NJFPA—as it creates competitive obstacles negatively impacting dealership operations. Therefore, any of NJCAR's members could have filed suit to determine whether Ford violated the NJFPA through the implementation of the LCP—even without the allegation of a monetary harm. Thereby, NJCAR has presented a real case or controversy.

### b. Alternatively, NJCAR has demonstrated economic harm.

Ford believes facial violations are illegitimate and argues that NJCAR failed to demonstrate actual economic harm of its members and is thus prevented from asserting associational standing. Such argument is incorrect. For one, NJCAR has demonstrated such harm. And such economic harm is not required for a suit for declaratory relief nor had the Appellate Division mentioned such requirement to constitute an appealable issue.

Throughout this litigation, NJCAR obtained documentation from Ford that demonstrates the disparate LCP payments made to N.J. dealers. (Pa82 at ¶ 35). Specifically, Ford produced a spreadsheet that showed the total value of LCP payments to dealers in New Jersey—each of which contain price differentials based on the specific status of the individual dealer under the LCP. See (Pa 77 at ¶ 20); (Pa78 at ¶ 23-25); and (Pa80 at ¶ 29-30). This is the exact sort of bonus program that N.J.S.A. 56:10-7.4(h) forbids. Moreover, the differential bonuses are apparent from the LCP rules and guidelines on their face. (Pa316-317). Therefore, Ford's allegation that NJCAR has no evidence of damage, even if it were relevant, is contradicted by the filings on the record. Disappointingly, Ford emphasizes the falsehood that NJCAR submitted no evidence about financial impact on its members. It is otherwise clear that

NJCAR submitted record evidence of an economic injury entitling it to associational standing. Therefore, there is no question that Appellate Division correctly determined there was a live dispute. (Aa4 at \*9).

# c. Neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires individual participation by NJCAR's members.

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